ADAR1 promotes HBV replication through its deaminase domain

Lin Yuan^{1,2}, Qianying Jia³, Shenyong Yang¹, Nur Fazleen Binti Idris¹, Yimin Li¹, Yang Wang¹, Ya Zhao², Jieli Hu⁴, Yuan Hu⁴, Ailong Huang⁴, Zeng Tu^{1, 4}

¹Department of Microbiology, College of Basic Medical Sciences/Molecular Medicine and Tumor Research Center, Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing 400016, China, ²Department of Clinical Laboratory, The First Hospital of Xi'an, Xi'an 710002, China, ³Department of Infectious Diseases, The First Affiliated Hospital of Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing 400016, China, ⁴Key Laboratory of Molecular Biology on Infectious Diseases, Ministry of Education, Second Affiliated Hospital, Chongqing Medical University, Chongqing 400016, China

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Materials and methods
 - 3.1. Cell lines
 - 3.2. Plasmids, small interfering RNAs, and transfection
 - 3.3. Western blot analysis
 - 3.4. Quantitative PCR analysis
 - 3.5. Southern blotting and qPCR detection for HBV total DNA
 - 3.6. Statistical analysis
- 4. Results
 - 4.1. ADAR1 knockdown down-regulated HBV replication
 - 4.2. Over-expressed ADAR1 enhanced HBV replication
 - 4.3. ADAR1 increased the replication of HBV independent of genotypes
 - 4.4. ADAR1 facilitated HBV replication through its editing function
- 5. Discussion
- 6. Acknowledgments
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Adenosine deaminase acting on RNA1 (ADAR1) is an RNA editing enzyme that modulates the replication of several viruses. Here, we provide evidence showing that ADAR1 stimulates hepatitis B virus (HBV) DNA replication in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines that are transiently or stablytransfected with HBV. We show that overexpression of ADAR1 promotes the replication of all four HBV genotypes (A, B, C, and D). Furthermore, analysis by mutagenesis shows that RNA editing region, and to a lesser content, RNA binding region of ADAR is responsible for the promotion of replication. Together, these data show that ADAR1 stimulates HBV replication.

2. INTRODUCTION

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) is a major cause of acute and chronic hepatitis worldwide. More than 350 million people suffer from chronic hepatitis B and annually 600,000 die of HBV-related disease and hepatocellular carcinoma (1, 2). HBV is noncytopathogenic, and infection of cells stimulates the host immune system. Additionally, certain restriction factors within the host can confer resistance to HBV infection (3).

Adenosine deaminases acting on RNA (ADARs) converts adenosine (A) to inosine (I) by deamination of cellular and viral RNA substrates, and further modulates cellular biological process and viral replication (4, 5). As a RNA editing enzymes, ADAR1 has two isoforms, an interferon (IFN)-induced form (150-kDa, p150) and a constitutively expressed form (110-kDa, p110). P110 lacks the first 296 amino acids of the p150. Evidences show that both p110 and p150 are involved in the regulation of virus replication, and the regulation can be either proviral or antiviral, depending on the specific virus-host combination (4, 5). Moreover, the inconsistent effects of ADAR1 on Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) (6-9) and Influenza Virus (IFV) were reported (10, 11). Intriguingly, ADAR1 could have a dual exclusive effect for Dengue Virus (DENV), with promotion at early time points post-infection and inhibition at later time points (12). The versatility of virus-specific role of ADAR1 deserves further exploration.

HBV is a 3.2 kb-long DNA virus that replicates via reverse transcription. Members of apolipoprotein B mRNA editing catalytic polypeptide (APOBEC) family inhibit HBV transcription and replication through DNA deaminase. Intriguingly, two members of the APOBEC family (A1 and AID) (13, 14) could also deaminate HBV RNA. However, as a typical RNA deaminase, roles of ADAR1 in HBV replication requires further analysis. Thus, experiment were carried out to address whether ADAR1 regulates HBV replication.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1. Cell lines

Human hepatoma cell lines, Huh7 cells and HepG2 cells, the stable HBV-producing cell lines, HepG2.2.1.5 cells and HepAD38 cells were used. Huh7 and HepG2 cells were cultured in Eagle's minimum essential medium (MEM; HyClone, Utah, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin, 1% L-glutamine, 1% Non essential Amino Acid; HepG2.2.1.5 and HepAD38 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (MEM; HyClone, Utah, USA) supplemented with 10% FBS, 1% Penicillin-Streptomycin. To turn off HBV replication, 1 μ g/ml tetracycline was added to the culture medium of HepAD38 cultures. All the cells were incubated in a 5% CO₂ incubator at 37°C.

3.2. Plasmids, small interfering RNAs, and transfection

Plasmid PCH9/3091 is an HBV expression vector containing a CMV-early-promoter-driven 1.1 copies of an HBV genome (genotype D) (15). pCMV-HBV-gtA is an HBV genomic expression vector containing 1.2 copies of HBV (adw2) genome (Genbank X02763.1, genotype A) downstream of the CMV promoter in pBS (Promega)(33, 34). pCMV-HBV-gtB and pCMV-HBV-gtC are analogous HBV genomic expression constructs (From Dr. Shuping Tong, Shanghai Medical University, Shanghai, China) (16). The ADAR1 p110 and p150 constructs were generated with 3×HA tag and DDK tag, respectively. ADAR1 P150E/A and p150∆R plasmids were used for the functional analysis as reported previously (17). P110-HA and p150-DDK point mutants were generated by PCR-based site-directed mutagenesis, and confirmed by sequencing. The mutations within the catalytic domain, resulting in amino acid change (H910A, E912A, C966A, and C1036A) (18) that abolishes the editing activity of ADAR1 protein. The mutant primers are listed in table 1. Specific small interfering RNA targeting ADAR1 mRNA (siRNAs) were purchased from Guangzhou RiboBio (GuangZhou, China) and transfected into cells using Lipofectamine 3000 (Invitrogen, Massachusetts, USA) according to manufacturer's instructions.

3.3. Western blot analysis

Fourth eight hours after transfection, cells were lysed in RIPA buffer (50mM Tris-HCl, pH7.4; 150 mM, NaCl; 1% NP-40) supplemented with a mixture of protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, Berlin, Germany) and 1 mM PMSF for 30 min on ice. The lysates were clarified by centrifugation at 13,000×g for 5min at 4°C. The clarified lysates were quantitated and denatured following the BCA manufacturer's protocol. The total lysates were separated on a 10%

Gene name	Forward primer 5'-3'	Reverse primer 5'-3'
pgRNA	CCTAGTAGTCAGTTATGTCAAC	TCTATAAGCTGGAGGAGTGCGA
ADAR1	GCCAAAGACACTCCCTC	GATTCCCTGTTCCCAAG
GAPDH	GAAGGTGAAGGTCGGAGTC	GAAGATGGTGATGGGATTTC
ADAR1- H910A	CAATGACTGCGCTGCAGAAATAATCTCCCGGAGAGG	CCTCTCCGGGAGATTATTTCTGCAGCGCAGTCATTG
ADAR1- E912A	TGCCATGCAGCAATAATCTCCCGGAGAGGGC	GCCTCTCCGGGAGATTATTGCTGCATGGCA
ADAR1- C966A	TGTATATCAGCACTGCTCCGGCTGGAGATGGCG	CGCCATCTCCAGCCGGAGCAGTGCTGATATACA
ADAR1- C1036A	CGTACCATGTCCGCTAGTGACAAAATCCTACGCTGG	CCAGCGTAGGATTTTGTCACTAGCGGACATGGTACG
Abbreviation: pgRNA, pregenomic RNA		

Table 1. Primer sequences

SDS-PAGE and transferred to an Immobilon-P transfer PVDF membrane (Millipore). The membranes were blocked in 5% nonfat milk before incubating with specific antibodies. The antibodies used were anti-HA (1:500 dilution, Thermo, Ohio, USA), anti-DDK (1:500 dilution, OriGene, OriGene, Maryland, USA), anti-ADAR1 (1:1000 dilution, Abcam, Cambridge), anti-GAPDH (1:10000 dilution, ZSGB-Bio, Beijing, China). After incubation with the HRP-conjugated secondary antibody, the blots were visualized by ECL reagent (Solaibio Science and Tech Ltd., China). GAPDH was used as a housekeeping control.

3.4. Quantitative PCR analysis

Quantitative reverse transcription PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed to determine the mRNA levels. Total RNA was extracted with TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen, Massachusetts, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. 1µg total RNA was reverse transcribed into cDNA using PrimeScript 1st Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Takara, Shiga, Japan), followed by detection by qPCR in BIO-RAD CFX 96 (Bio-Rad, Washington,USA) system using the FastStart Universal SYBR Green Master (Roche, Berlin, Germany). The primers used are listed in Table 1. GAPDH was used as a housekeeping control

3.5. Southern blotting and qPCR detection for HBV total DNA

Intracellular viral core DNA of HBV was extracted 4 days after transfection as previously reported (15). Briefly, core-associated HBV DNA was collected by lysis of the cells, DNase I and proteinase K digestion, and phenol/chloroform extraction. The DNA was precipitated with ethanol and dissolved in TE buffer (10 mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.0), 1 mM EDTA). To detect HBV DNA by Southern blot analysis, the extracted viral DNAs were separated on a 1% agarose gel, transferred onto a nylon membrane (Roche, Berlin, Germany). The membranes were hybridized with a digoxigenin-labeled full-length HBV DNA probe using The DIG DNA Labeling and Detection Kit (Roche, Berlin, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The signal was detected by exposure on an X-ray film and scanning using the Versa Doc Imaging system (Bio-Rad, Washington, USA). Real-time PCR detection of HBV DNA was performed as previously described (16).

3.6. Statistical analysis

All the results were presented as mean \pm S.D. Student's *t*-test for paired samples was used for data analysis. Differences analyzed by GraphPad Prime 5.0 were considered statistically significant at a value of *P*<0.05.

4. RESULTS

4.1. ADAR1 knockdown down-regulated HBV replication

ADAR1 is endogenously expressed in human hepatoma cells. We first examined the effects of ADAR1 siRNA knockdown on HBV replication. As shown in Figure 1A, the expression level of HBV



Figure 1. The knockdown of ADAR1 proteins decreased HBV replication. (A and B) Huh7 cells were transfected with 50 nM and 100 nM siADAR1 or siNC for 16h and then transfected with 2 ug of HBV plasmid pCH9/3091, and HBV replicative intermediates in the cells were evaluated at 48 h after transfection by Southern blotting (A) and the efficiency of ADAR1 siRNA knockdown was confirmed by Western blotting (B). (C, D, and E) Relative expression of HBV DNA (C) and RNA (D) in the HepG2.2.1.5 were detected by qPCR at 48h posttransfected with 100 nM ADAR1 siRNA. The levels of ADAR1 expression were detected by western blot (E). **P<0.01 from three independent experiments.

replicative intermediate (DNA) was substantially repressed with the ADAR1 knockdown. The repression was more obvious at 100 nM of ADAR1 siRNA than 50 nM (Figure 1A). Meanwhile, Levels of HBV DNA was reduced in HepG2.2.1.5 cells stably transfected by HBV by real-time PCR using primers targeting HBV core gene. The levels of HBV RNA showed no significant change (Figure 1B).

4.2. Over-expressed ADAR1 enhanced HBV replication

Further, an HBV expression plasmid was co-transfected with a control plasmid or ADAR1 (p110 and p150) in different human hepatoma cell lines, followed by HBV DNA and RNA detection. The level of HBV DNA replication increased significantly in both HepG2 cells and Huh7 cells (Figure 2A, B). Similarly, upon transfection of ADAR1 plasmid into two HBV stably replicative cell lines, HepG2.2.1.5 and HepAD38 cells, while HBV DNA was upregulated, there was no significant change in the level of HBV RNA (Figure 2C.D).

4.3. ADAR1 increased the replication of HBV independent of genotypes

To examine the effect of genotypes on the promotion of ADAR1 on HBV replication, the three most common HBV genotypes (A, B and C)

ADAR1 promotes HBV replication



Figure 2. Overexpression of ADAR1 facilitates the replication of HBV. (A, B, C, and B) 0.4ug of HBV plasmid pCH9/3091 were cotransfected with 1.2ug empty and ADAR1 constructs (P110 or P150) into Huh7 cells (A and B) and HepG2 cells (C and D), HBV DNA replicative intermediates were detected by Southern blotting (A, C). (E, F, G, H, I, and J) 1.2ug ADAR1 constructs (P110 or P150) were transfected into HepG2.2.1.5 cells and HepAD38 cells, HBV DNA and mRNA were detected by qPCR in HepG2.2.1.5 cells (E and F) and southern blot in HepAD38 cells (H and I). The levels of ADAR1 protein were detected by western blot using anti-HA or anti-DDK antibody. GAPDH was used as an internal control. *P<0.05 from three independent experiments.

expression plasmids were co-transfected into Huh7 cells with ADAR1 plasmids, and then the HBV DNA were examined by Southern blotting. Results showed

that both p110 and p150 isoform of ADAR1 promoted HBV DNA replication of all three genotypes that were examined (Figure 3A).



Figure 3. ADAR1 increased HBV replication of genotypes A, B and C. 0.4ug of genotype A, B or C HBV constructs were co-transfected with 1.2ug of P110 or P150 construct into Huh7 cells. HBV replicative intermediates were analyzed by Southern blot (A). ADAR1 expressions were confirmed by western blot using anti-HA or anti-DDK antibody (B). GAPDH was used as an internal control.

4.4. ADAR1 facilitated HBV replication through its editing function

Human ADAR1 has three different domains (Figure 4AB) that specify distinct functions of ADAR1 (4). We constructed domain mutants of ADAR1 and further explored the function of the mutated domain of ADAR1 on HBV replication in Huh7 cells (Figure 4A). Consistent with such results, as compared to empty vector control, ADAR1 p110, to a less degree, and the p150 isoform of ADAR1 enhanced HBV replication. Over-expressed ADAR1 p150 mutants (p150EA and p150 \triangle R) abolished the promoting effects of p150 isoform of ADAR1 on HBV replication (Figure 4C). This finding was consistent with the concept that RNA binding domain and RNA editing domain, solely or collectively, regulate ADAR1 function. It is reasonable to consider that RNA binding is a prerequisite for editing function.

To further determine the key amino acids responsible for the promoting effect of ADAR1 on HBV replication, we constructed four ADAR1 mutants harbored mutations of amino acids in the catalytic domain, and co-transfected them with HBV expressing plasmid into Huh7 cells (Figure 4A). As validated by southern blotting, both p110 and p150 isoforms of ADAR1, when over-expressed in Huh7 cells, increased HBV DNA replication (Figure 4C-D). However, over-expression of ADAR1 mutants (H910A, E912A, and C1036A) did not increase and rather decreased the HBV DNA replication (Figure 4D). C966A mutant showed a comparable or slightly

ADAR1 promotes HBV replication



Figure 4. RNA editing and RNA binding domain of ADAR1 are required to promote HBV replication. (A) Schematic representation of human ADAR1 (p110 and p150) and its mutant constructs (p110H910A, p110E912A, p110C966A, p110C1036A, and p150H910A). The asterisks indicate the position of replaced amino acid in the catalytic domain of ADAR1. HBV replicative intermediates were detected by Southern blotting in Huh7 cells transfected with ADAR1 p110, ADAR1 p150 or its mutant expression plasmid (B, D, and F). Level of ADAR1 protein and its mutant constructs were confirmed by Western blotting using anti-HA or anti-DDK antibody (C, E, and G). GAPDH was used as an internal control.

increased level of HBV DNA replication as compared to the empty vector control. These data support the idea that HBV replication can be stimulated by ADAR1 through its editing activity, and conservative amino acids within the editing domain could play distinct roles during the replication.

716

5. DISCUSSION

ADAR1 is a multifunctional protein with editing-dependent and -independent activities, with the potential in regulating viral replication and innate immune response. In this study, we provide evidence that ADAR1 increases HBV DNA replication in human hepatoma cell lines. We further show that this enhancement relies on the deaminase activity of ADAR1. Both p110 and p150 isoforms of ADAR1 upregulate HBV replication, as evidenced by ADAR1 siRNA knockdown and overexpression analysis in four widely-used cell lines (HepG2, Huh7, HepG2.2.1.5, and HepAD38), and further confirmed by the effect of ADAR1 on different genotypes. Previous work, by case-control studies in chronic HBV infection, indicated that the SNPs of ADAR1 gene correlate with the clearance of HBsAg (19). Our study provided solid and direct evidence that ADAR1 promotes HBV replication, adding the HBV to the list of viruses where their replication is supported by ADAR1. HBV and some other *Retroviridae* family viruses such as Equine Infectious Anemia Virus (EIAV) (20) and HIV (7) exhibit certain similarities in reverse transcription during replication. The fact that ADAR1 facilitates HBV replication in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines that were transiently or stablytransfected with HBV suggests that it most probably acts as a downstream of pgRNA transcription. Recently, when incorporated into the HBV nucleocapsid, the deaminase such as A1 (21) and AID (14, 22), were found to deaminate HBV RNA. Additionally, the promotion of ADAR1 on HIV replication can be explained by the supportive role of virion assembly and gRNA packaging through the interaction of encapsidated ADAR1 and core proteins (p55 gag) (23-24).

Theoretically, ADAR1 ADAR1 might be encapsidated into the HBV nucleocapsid. Such encapsidation is in agreement with recent data showing that other cellular proteins, such as A1, AID, and DDX3, play a similar role (21-23). Furthermore, ADAR1 might stabilize the pgRNA by interfering with the function of the staufen1 protein, avoiding RNA decay in or out capsid, similar to the process during the cell apoptosis (25). ADAR1 might indirectly regulated HBV replication by modulation of cellular RNA processing and expression (such as encoding and noncoding RNA) (5, 12). Our findings demonstrate that the RNA editing domains, to a lesser extent, and the RNA binding regions, are the main functional regions responsible for the promotion of HBV replication. It is likely that ADAR1 RNA editing yields a quantity of inosine-containing RNA adequate to suppress innate immunity of host (5, 26-28), to modulate coding or noncoding RNA, and to affect the outcome of virus-host interaction (12, 29).

Highly conserved amino acids within the catalytic domain of ADAR1 are responsible for the deaminase activity (18, 30-31). Among these, His⁹¹⁰ and Glu⁹¹² of ADAR1 are the key amino acids act respectively through zinc chelation and proton transfer (31-32). Substitution of His⁹¹⁰ with Gln/Gly (H⁹¹⁰Y/Q) and Glu⁹¹² with Ala (E⁹¹²A) almost completely abolish A-to-I RNA editing activity or editing frequencies of verified A-to-I RNA editing sites through RNAseq (31-32). In addition, mutagenesis has revealed two conservative residues, Cys⁹⁶⁶ (C⁹⁶⁶) and Cys¹⁰³⁶ (C¹⁰³⁶), have been identified to play a role in zinc coordination along with H⁹¹⁰, and are necessary for ADAR1 deaminase activity (18). In our study, conversion of Cys to Ala at 966 (C⁹⁶⁶A) results in a comparable or slight increase in the level of HBV DNA replication as compared to the empty vector control. Cys⁹⁶⁶ likely has less effect on the catalytic activity of ADAR1 than other three residues (His⁹¹⁰, Glu⁹¹², and Cys¹⁰³⁶). Although the precise roles of Cys⁹⁶⁶ and Cys¹⁰³⁶ in HBV DNA replication is far from clear, they might play a role as zinc chelating ligands (18). In addition, while some conservative amino acid residues (His⁹¹⁰, Glu⁹¹², and Cys¹⁰³⁶) are necessary for the enzyme function, C⁹⁶⁶ provides tolerance to the amino acid conversion.

In this study, we demonstrate a supportive role of ADAR1 on HBV DNA replication in human hepatoma cell lines. We further prove that the enhancement relyies on the deaminase activity of ADAR1. Therefore, our findings point out a new host factor that is responsible for the enhancement of HBV replication.

6. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Lin Yuan and Qianying Jia contributed equally to this work. This study was supported in part

by Chongqing Research Program of Basic Research and Frontier Technology (Grant No. cstc2015jcyjA10006), Postdoctoral Science Foundation (Grant No. 2013M542264 and Xm2014006) and the Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 81501751 and 81201948, 2014.05, 2015.02)

7. REFERENCES

- Q. Tian, J. Jia, Hepatitis B virus genotypes: epidemiological and clinical relevance in Asia, *Hepatol Int*, 10, 854-860 (2016) DOI: 10.1007/s12072-016-9745-2
- C. Trépo, H.L. Chan, A. Lok, Hepatitis B virus infection, *Lancet*, 384, 2053-2063 (2014) DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60220-8
- S.F. Wieland, F.V. Chisari, Stealth and cunning: hepatitis B and hepatitis C viruses, *J Virol*, 79 (2005) 9369-9380.
 DOI: 10.1128/JVI.79.15.9369-9380.2005
- C.E. Samuel, Adenosine deaminases acting on RNA (ADARs) are both antiviral and proviral, *Virology*, 411, 180-193 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.virol.2010.12.004
- Q. Wang, X. Li, R. Qi, T. Billiar, RNA Editing, ADAR1, and the Innate Immune Response, *Genes*, 8, 41 (2017) DOI: 10.3390/genes8010041
- A. Phuphuakrat, R. Kraiwong, C. Boonarkart, D. Lauhakirti, T.H. Lee, P. Auewarakul, Double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminases enhance expression of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 proteins, *J Virol*, 82, 10864-10872 (2008) DOI: 10.1128/JVI.00238-08

- E. Cuadrado, T. Booiman, J.L. van Hamme, M.H. Jansen, K.A. van Dort, A. Vanderver, G.I. *Rice*, Y.J. Crow, N.A. Kootstra, T.W. Kuijpers, ADAR1 facilitates HIV-1 replication in primary CD4+ T cells, *PLoS One*, 10, e0143613 (2015) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0143613
- M.D. Weiden, S. Hoshino, D.N. Levy, Y. Li, R. Kumar, S.A. Burke, R. Dawson, C.E. Hioe, W. Borkowsky, W.N. Rom, Y. Hoshino, Adenosine deaminase acting on RNA-1 (ADAR1) inhibits HIV-1 replication in human alveolar macrophages, *PLoS One*, 9, e108476 (2014) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0108476
- M. Pujantell, E. Riveira-MuéOz, R. Badia, M. Castellvé, E. Garcia-Vidal, G. Sirera, T. Puig, C. Ramirez, B. Clotet, J.A. Esté, E. Ballana, RNA editing by ADAR1 regulates innate and antiviral immune functions in primary macrophages, *Sci Rep*, 7, 13339 (2017) DOI: 10.1038/s41598-017-13580-0
- R. Suspene, V. Petit, D. Puyraimond-Zemmour, M.M. Aynaud, M. Henry, D. Guetard, C. Rusniok, S. Wain-Hobson, J.P. Vartanian, Double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase ADAR-1-induced hypermutated genomes among inactivated seasonal influenza and live attenuated measles virus vaccines, *J Virol*, 85, 2458-2462 (2011) DOI: 10.1128/JVI.02138-10
- B. de Chassey, A. Aublin-Gex, A. Ruggieri, L. Meyniel-Schicklin, F. Pradezynski, N. Davoust, T. Chantier, L. Tafforeau, P.E. Mangeot, C. Ciancia, L. Perrin-Cocon, R. Bartenschlager, P. Andre, V. Lotteau, The interactomes of influenza virus NS1 and NS2 proteins identify new host factors and provide insights for ADAR1 playing a supportive

role in virus replication, *PLoS Path*, 9, e1003440 (2013) DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003440

- M. Diosa-Toro, L. Echavarria-Consuegra, J. Flipse, G.J. Fernandez, J. Kluiver, A. van den Berg, S. Urcuqui-Inchima, J.M. Smit, MicroRNA profiling of human primary macrophages exposed to dengue virus identifies miRNA-3614-5p as antiviral and regulator of ADAR1 expression, *PLoS Neg Trop Dis*, 11, e0005981 (2017) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0005981
- C. Rosler, J. Kock, M. Kann, M.H. Malim, H.E. Blum, T.F. Baumert, F. von Weizsacker, APOBEC-mediated interference with hepadnavirus production, *Hepatology*, 42, 301-309 (2005) DOI: 10.1002/hep.20801
- G. Liang, K. Kitamura, Z. Wang, G. Liu, S. Chowdhury, W. Fu, M. Koura, K. Wakae, T. Honjo, M. Muramatsu, RNA editing of hepatitis B virus transcripts by activation-induced cytidine deaminase, *Proc Nat Acad Sci*, 110, 2246-2251 (2013) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1221921110
- J.L. Hu, J. Cui, J.J. Guo, W.L. Zhang, X.F. Cai, Z.W. Yuan, Q.L. Li, X.Y. Deng, A.Z. Zeng, Y. Hu, N. Tang, A.L. Huang, Phenotypic assay of a hepatitis B virus strain carrying an rtS246T variant using a new strategy, *J Med Virol*, 84, 34-43 (2012) DOI: 10.1002/imv.22260
- Y. Chen, J. Hu, X. Cai, Y. Huang, X. Zhou, Z. Tu, J. Hu, J.E. Tavis, N. Tang, A. Huang, Y. Hu, APOBEC3B edits HBV DNA and inhibits HBV replication during

reverse transcription, *Antiviral Res*, 149, 16-25 (2018) DOI: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2017.11.006

- S. Yang, P. Deng, Z. Zhu, J. Zhu, G. Wang, L. Zhang, A.F. Chen, T. Wang, S.N. Sarkar, T.R. Billiar, Q. Wang, Adenosine deaminase acting on RNA 1 limits RIG-I RNA detection and suppresses IFN production responding to viral and endogenous RNAs, *J Immunol*, 193, 3436-3445 (2014) DOI: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401136
- F. Lai, R. Drakas, K. Nishikura, Mutagenic analysis of double-stranded RNA adenosine deaminase, a candidate enzyme for RNA editing of glutamate-gated ion channel transcripts, *J Biol Chem*, 270, 17098-17105 (1995) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.270.29.17098
- X. Wu, W. Shi, J. Wu, X. Zhu, K. Chen, S. Zheng, Z. Li, Z. Duan, H. Li, Y. Liu, A functional polymorphism in ADAR1 gene affects HBsAg seroclearance both spontaneously and interferon induced, *Liver Int*, 34, 1560-1565 (2014) DOI: 10.1111/liv.12444
- Y.D. Tang, L. Na, L.H. Fu, F. Yang, C.H. Zhu, L. Tang, Q. Li, J.Y. Wang, Z. Li, X.F. Wang, C.Y. Li, X. Wang, J.H. Zhou, Double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase 1 (ADAR1) promotes EIAV replication and infectivity, *Virology*, 476, 364-371 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.virol.2014.12.038
- C. Rösler, J. Köck, M. Kann, M.H. Malim, H.E. Blum, T.F. Baumert, F. von Weizsäcker, APOBEC - mediated interference with hepadnavirus production, *Hepatology*, 42, 301-309 (2005) DOI: 10.1002/hep.20801

- G. Liang, G. Liu, K. Kitamura, Z. Wang, S. Chowdhury, A.M. Monjurul, K. Wakae, M. Koura, M. Shimadu, K. Kinoshita, TGF-β suppression of HBV RNA through AID-dependent recruitment of an RNA exosome complex, *PLoS path*, 11, e1004780 (2015) DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004780
- H. Wang, S. Kim, W.-S. Ryu, DDX3 DEAD-Box RNA helicase inhibits hepatitis B virus reverse transcription by incorporation into nucleocapsids, *J Virol*, 83, 5815-5824 (2009) DOI: 10.1128/JVI.00011-09
- E. Orecchini, M. Federico, M. Doria, C. Arenaccio, E. Giuliani, S.A. Ciafrè, A. Michienzi, The ADAR1 editing enzyme is encapsidated into HIV-1 virions, *Virology*, 485, 475-480 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.virol.2015.07.027
- 25. M. Sakurai, Y. Shiromoto, H. Ota, C. Song, A.V. Kossenkov. J. L.C. Ε. Wickramasinghe, Showe, Skordalakes, H.-Y. Tang, D.W. Speicher, ADAR1 controls apoptosis of stressed cells by inhibiting Staufen1-mediated mRNA decay, Nat Struct Mol Biol, 24, 534 (2017) DOI: 10.1038/nsmb.3403
- H. Chung, J.J.A. Calis, X. Wu, T. Sun, Y. Yu, S.L. Sarbanes, V.L. Dao Thi, A.R. Shilvock, H.H. Hoffmann, B.R. Rosenberg, C.M. Rice, Human ADAR1 prevents endogenous RNA from triggering translational shutdown, *Cell*, 172, 811-824 e814 (2018) DOI: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.12.038
- B.J. Liddicoat, R. Piskol, A.M. Chalk, G. Ramaswami, M. Higuchi, J.C. Hartner, J.B. Li, P.H. Seeburg, C.R. Walkley, RNA editing by ADAR1 prevents MDA5

sensing of endogenous dsRNA as nonself, *Science*, 349, 1115-1120 (2015) DOI: 10.1126/science.aac7049

- C.X. George, G. Ramaswami, J.B. Li, C.E. Samuel, Editing of cellular self-RNAs by adenosine deaminase ADAR1 suppresses innate immune stress responses, *J Biol Chem*, 291, 6158-6168 (2016) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M115.709014
- 29. A. Salameh, A.K. Lee, M. Cardo-Vila, D.N. Nunes, E. Efstathiou, F.I. Staquicini, A.S. Dobroff, S. Marchio, N.M. Navone, H. Hosoya, R.C. Lauer, S. Wen, C.C. Salmeron, A. Hoang, I. Newsham, L.A. Lima, D.M. Carraro, S. Oliviero, M.G. Kolonin, R.L. Sidman, K.A. Do, P. Troncoso, C.J. Logothetis, R.R. Brentani, G.A. Calin, W.K. Cavenee, E. Dias-Neto, R. Pasqualini, W. Arap, PRUNE2 is a human prostate cancer suppressor regulated by the intronic long noncoding RNA PCA3, Proc National Acad Sci, 112, 8403-8408 (2015) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1507882112
- Y. Liu, C.E. Samuel, Mechanism of interferon action: functionally distinct RNA-binding and catalytic domains in the interferon-inducible, double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase, J Virol, 70, 1961-1968 (1996)
- C.X. George, Z. Gan, Y. Liu, C.E. Samuel, Adenosine deaminases acting on RNA, RNA editing, and interferon action, *J Interferon Cytokine Res*, 31, 99-117 (2011) DOI: 10.1089/jir.2010.0097
- T.H.M. Chan, A. Qamra, K.T. Tan, J. Guo, H. Yang, L. Qi, J.S. Lin, V.H.E. Ng, Y. Song, H. Hong, S.T. Tay, Y. Liu, J. Lee, S.Y. Rha, F. Zhu, J.B.Y. So, B.T.

Teh, K.G. Yeoh, S. Rozen, D.G. Tenen, P. Tan, L. Chen, ADAR-mediated RNA editing predicts progression and prognosis of gastric cancer, *Gastroenterology*, 151, 637-650.e610 (2016) DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2016.06.043

Key Words: Adenosine Deaminase, RNA1, ADAR1, Hepatitis B virus, RNA Editing, Replication

Send correspondence to: Ailong Huang or Zeng TU, Key Laboratory of Molecular Biology on Infectious Diseases, Ministry of Education, Chongqing Medical University, NO.1 YiXueYuan Road, Yuzhong District, Chongqing, 400016, P.R. China, Tel: 862368486780, Fax: 862368486780, E-mail: tuzeng@cqmu.edu.cn